### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THOMAS DAVIS WOODEL,

Appellant, :

vs. : Case No. 95,110

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Appellee. :

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

ROBERT F. MOELLER Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0234176

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (941) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

### TOPICAL

# STATEMENT OF TYPE USED

I certify the size and style of type used in this brief is Courier 12 point, a font that is not proportionally spaced.

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record on appeal herein consists of nineteen (19) volumes and one (1) supplemental volume. Citations to the record will be by volume number and page number, except that citations to the supplement will be indicated by "SR," followed by the page number(s).

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 16, 1997, a Polk County grand jury returned a fourcount indictment against Appellant, Thomas Davis Woodel. (Vol. I,
pp. 2-6) Count One charged Woodel with the first degree premeditated murder of Clifford Moody, on or about December 31, 1996, by
cutting or stabbing him with a knife or other sharp instrument.

(Vol. I, p. 2) Count Two charged Woodel with the first degree
premeditated murder of Bernice Moody on the same date, by the same
method. (Vol. I, p. 3) Count Three charged Woodel with robbery of
Clifford or Bernice Moody with a deadly weapon on the same date.

(Vol. I, p. 3) And Count Four charged Woodel with burglary of a
dwelling that was the property of the Moodys on the same date,
during which Woodel made an assault or battery upon Clifford or
Bernice Moody. (Vol. I, p. 4)

This cause proceeded to a jury trial with the Honorable Robert E. Pyle presiding. (Vol. II, p. 1-Vol. XIX, p. 3155) The guilt phase was held on November 9-10, 12-13, 16-19, 24, and 30, and December 1, 2, 3, and 4, 1998. (Vol. II, p. 1-Vol. XVII, p. 2735) Woodel presented no evidence at the guilt phase. (Vol. XVI, p. 2463) With regard to the murder charges, Woodel's jury was instructed on alternative theories of first degree murder: premeditation, and felony murder, with robbery or burglary as the underlying felony. (Vol. XVII, pp. 2683-2685) His jury found

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Court convened briefly on Friday, November 20, when the court and counsel discussed with Juror Gorum the attempted suicide of his wife, which caused the trial to be continued until the following Tuesday, but no testimony was taken on that day. (Vol. XII, pp. 1761-1773)

Woodel guilty as charged on all counts of the indictment. (Vol. II, pp. 188-191; Vol. XVII, pp. 2728-2730) The penalty phase was held on December 7, 1998. (Vol. XVII, p. 2736-Vol. XIX, p. 3155) It began at 9:05 a.m. (Vol. XVII, p. 2739), and the jury was not discharged until some time after 10:07 p.m. (Vol. XIX, pp. 3149-3155) After receiving additional evidence from the State and from the defense, the jury returned an advisory verdict that Thomas Woodel be sentenced to death for the murder of Clifford Moody by a vote of 9-3, and an advisory verdict that Woodel be sentenced to death for the murder of 12-0. (Vol. II, pp. 213, 214; Vol. XIX, pp. 3149-3150)

A <u>Spencer<sup>2</sup></u> hearing was held before Judge Pyle on January 14, 1999. (Vol. II, pp. 216-242)

Sentencing itself was held on January 26, 1999. (Vol. II, pp. 249-262) With regard to the non-capital offenses of robbery and burglary, although the range permitted pursuant to the sentencing guidelines scoresheet was 62.85 to 104.75 prison months, Judge Pyle departed therefrom and imposed concurrent life sentences for both offenses. (Vol. II, pp. 253, 265-268, 276-277) The scoresheet listed "unscoreable capital convictions" as the reason for the upward departure. (Vol. II, p. 277) Judge Pyle sentenced Thomas Woodel to death for each of the two homicides. (Vol. II, pp. 254-260, 270-275) The court found the following aggravating circum-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> <u>Spencer v. State</u>, 615 So. 2d 688 (Fla. 1993).

stances to exist (Vol. II, pp. 254-257, 271-273): 1) Woodel had previously been convicted of another capital felony (based upon the

contemporaneous killings of Bernice and Clifford Moody); 2) the killings were perpetrated while Woodel was engaged in the crime of burglary; 3) the killings were especially heinous, atrocious or cruel; and 4) the victims were particularly vulnerable due to advanced age or disability. The court specifically rejected the State's contention that the killing of Clifford Moody was committed for the purpose of avoiding arrest or effecting an escape. (Vol. II, pp. 257, 273)<sup>3</sup> The court discussed mitigation as follows (Vol. II, pp. 257-259, 273-274):

#### B. <u>MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES</u>

The State concedes that the defense has established both of the only two statutory mitigating circumstances offered:

- 1) The defendant has no significant history of prior criminal activity.
- 2) The existence of any other factors in the defendant's background that would mitigate against imposition of the death penalty.

The first mitigation bears little or no elaboration. Whatever weight as signed to factor pales to insignificance in the face of the enormity of these murders.

The second "catch-all" mitigation consisted of seven separate considerations:

- 1. Physical abuse suffered as a child.
  - 2. Neglect by mother as a child.
- 3. Instability of residences as a child.
- 4. Being a child of deaf mute parents.
  - 5. Use of alcohol and drugs.
- 6. Willingness to meet with the daughter of Clifford and Bernice Moody.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Appellant's jury was, however, instructed on this aggravating circumstance at penalty phase. (Vol. XIX, pp. 3141-3142)

7. Willingness to be tested for possible bone marrow donations for his daughter who has leukemia.

Of those considerations the defense pursued primarily the proposition that Woodel was so intoxicated from overindulgence in alcoholic beverages that he was incapable of forming the requisite intent. This circumstance was not proven by a preponderance of evidence. The jury rejected that argument, as does the Court.

The remaining considerations under the "catch-all" mitigating circumstances bear no further elaboration. They have been proven by a preponderance of the evidence and the Court has relegated them to relative insignificance and minimal weight.

The court went on to conclude that the aggravating circumstances "far outweigh" the mitigating circumstances, and that "the death penalty is the only appropriate sentence to impose as to each murder." (Vol. II, pp. 259, 274)

Thomas Woodel timely filed his notice of appeal to this Court on February 23, 1999. (Vol. II, p. 278)

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

#### Guilt Phase

Clifford Moody, who was 79 years old, and his 74 year old wife, Bernice, lived in a trailer on Lot 533 at Outdoor Resorts of America, which was the last commercial business in Polk County before the Osceola County line. (Vol. XI, pp. 1502, 1507; Vol. XII, pp. 1686-1687, 1705, 1778; Vol. XIII, p. 1839; Vol. XIV, pp. 2024, 2059) The Moodys owned another unit next door to theirs, on Lot 532, which they sometimes rented out. (Vol. XI, pp. 1467, 1502; Vol. XII, p. 1778)

Clifford Moody had had triple bypass surgery, and had an enlarged heart. (Vol. XIII, pp. 1808, 1822; Vol. XIV, pp. 2058-2059) He had had a "myocardial infarct." (Vol. XIV, p. 2059) Cliff was also hard of hearing, and wore a hearing aid. (Vol. XII, p. 1800; Vol. XIII, pp. 1807, 1822) He had had knee replacement surgery, and walked with a rather uneven gait. (Vol. XIII, p. 1822; Vol. XIV, p. 2058) Bernice Moody was in excellent shape and looked younger even than she was. (Vol. XIII, pp. 1807-1808, 1822; Vol. XIV, pp. 2024-2025) They were always active, washing windows, cleaning, gardening, etc. (Vol. XII, pp. 1697-1698)

On December 30, 1996, the Moodys were preparing the unit on Lot 532 for a tenant. (Vol. XII, p. 1696) Fifty-three year old Thomas Collick, who, with his wife, spent most winters at Outdoor Resorts, helped them clean the unit, as well as the trailer where the Moodys lived, with a power-washer. (Vol. XII, pp. 1775-1776; 1780) Thomas and Kathryn Collick spent the early part of that

evening with the Moodys, but left around 8:00 or a little after when Fred and Rena Dupuis, who also wintered at Outdoor Resorts, arrived. (Vol. XII, pp. 1703-1704, 1707, 1712, 1780-1781; Vol. XIII, p. 1810) The Dupuis couple stayed until 10:00 or 10:30. (Vol. XII, pp. 1707-1708, 1712)

Appellant, Thomas Woodel, also lived at Outdoor Resorts of America, on Lot 301, about a block from where the Moodys lived, with his sister, Bobbi, and his girlfriend, Christina. (Vol. XII, p. 1658; Vol. XV, pp. 2221-2225, 2281) Woodel, whose only transportation was a bicycle, worked as a dishwasher and cook at a Pizza Hut not too far from the trailer park. (Vol. XII, pp. 1653-1654; Vol. XIV, pp. 2103-2104, 2117-2118, 2121, 2140-2141) His sister, Bobbi Woodel, also worked there. (Vol. XIV, p. 2104; Vol. XV, pp. 2221-2222) Frequently, Thomas Woodel would be driven home after work by other Pizza Hut employees. (Vol. XIV, pp. 2121-2122, 2132) According to his work schedule, Woodel was on duty from 7:00 p.m. on December 30 to 1:00 a.m. on December 31, 1996. (Vol. XIV, pp. 2142, 2158) When he got off that early morning, no one gave him a ride home. (Vol. XIV, p. 2133)

For awhile, Woodel was also working at Publix as a stock boy in the early morning hours. (Vol. XV, pp. 2248-2250) He developed an infection or rash, and broke out with red bumps or marks all over his hands, which his sister thought may have been from the cardboard boxes with which he worked. (Vol. XV, pp. 2248-2249)

Jeffrey Kurz was delivering the Orlando <u>Sentinel</u> to residents of Outdoor Resorts in the early morning hours of December 31, 1996.

(Vol. XII, pp. 1716-1717) Around 4:30-4:45, Kurz observed a man, whom he had seen before, loading paper grocery bags into the back seat of his car, which was parked in the driveway. (Vol. XII, pp. 1718, 1721-1722) As he drove on through the neighborhood, Kurz saw an old woman in a housecoat, whom he believed to be the man's wife, looking out through a screen door or storm door from inside. (Vol. XII, pp. 1723, 1728-1729)

Elmer Schultz, 74 years old, was working security at the front gate of Outdoor Resorts overnight on December 30-31, 1996. (Vol. XII, pp. 1738-1739) This was the only entrance to Outdoor Resorts. (Vol. XII, p. 1777) Schultz started his shift about 11:40 p.m. (Vol. XII, p. 1739) It was a quiet, slow night. (Vol. XII, pp. 1743, 1748) Around 5:00 a.m., Schultz saw Clifford Moody arrive alone by car at the laundromat which was across the street on an angle from the guard house. (Vol. XII, pp. 1744-1745) Moody was doing laundry, and was still there when Schultz left about 5:30 or 5:40. (Vol. XII, pp. 1745-1746) Schultz did not remember seeing Thomas Woodel walk through the gate during the morning of December 31 while he was on duty. (Vol. XII, p. 1742)

Thomas Collick returned to the Moody's residence on the morning of December 31 at 8:30 to power-wash their driveway. (Vol. XII, pp. 1782-1783) The Moody's car was parked there. (Vol. XII, p. 1784) Collick knocked on their door and rang the bell, but

received no answer. (Vol. XII, p. 1783) Collick's wife arrived later to assist him with the washing. (Vol. XII, pp. 1783-1784) The couple went home around 11:30. (Vol. XII, pp. 1783-1785; Vol. XIII, p. 1815)

Lavern O'Connell, 67 years old, had arranged with the Moodys to rent the spare unit from them for three months. (Vol. XIII, pp. 1823-1824) He and his wife arrived at the front gate to Outdoor Resorts at approximately 12:45 p.m. on December 31, 1996, where there was supposed to be a key waiting, but no key was there. (Vol. XIII, pp. 1824-1825) O'Connell attempted to phone the Moodys, but there was no answer. (Vol. XIII, p. 1825) The guard gave O'Connell a daytime pass, and he drove back to the unit. (Vol. XIII, p. 1825) There was a car in the driveway of the unit next to the one O'Connell was going to rent, which he assumed belonged to the Moodys. (Vol. XIII, p. 1826) O'Connell pounded on the door of that unit, but received no answer. (Vol. XIII, p. 1826) He then went next door, to the rental unit, and entered. (Vol. XIII, pp. 1826-1827) He saw a gentleman, whom he assumed was Mr. Moody, lying on the floor. (Vol. XIII, p. 1829) O'Connell started to look for a telephone, and "found Mrs. Moody in the bedroom with blood all over her." (Vol. XIII, p. 1829) He backed out, and went across the street to where a man was mowing his lawn and called 911. (Vol. XIII, pp. 1829-1831)

Lavern O'Connell encountered Thomas Collick outside and told him of discovering the bodies. (Vol. XII, pp. 1787-1789) After observing the bodies in the rental unit, Collick went to get his

wife, who was a critical care registered nurse. (Vol. XII, p. 1790; Vol. XIII, p. 1816) Kathryn Collick went into the rental unit and checked Clifford Moody for vital signs, but did not find any pulse in the carotid artery. (Vol. XII, pp. 1790-1791; Vol. XIII, p. 1816) When she touched Bernice's leg, she knew there was nothing she could do for her. (Vol. XII, pp. 1790-1791; Vol. XIII, p. 1817) When Kathryn went into the Moody's personal residence to call the family, nothing looked unusual or out of place. (Vol. XIII, p. 1819)

Deputy Ray Faulk of the Polk County Sheriff's Department was the first officer on the scene, arriving about 2:00. (Vol. XIII, p. Inside the unit at 532, which showed no signs of 1838, 1840) forced entry, he observed an elderly white male lying on the flat of his back in the kitchen/dining room area. (Vol. X, p. 1335; Vol. XI, p. 1511; Vol. XIII, pp. 1841, 1844) His eyeglasses had been knocked off and were lying behind him, about two feet from his head. (Vol. X, pp. 1414-1415; Vol. XIII, p. 1841) He was wearing a silver-colored chain with a cross on it, and a watch on his left arm. (Vol. X, pp. 1413-1414; Vol. XI, pp. 1475, 1490) His underwear and trousers had been pulled down to his knees or ankles. (Vol. X, pp. 1410-1412; Vol. XIII, pp. 1841) There was some money there, and traces of blood on the wall. (Vol. XIII, p. 1841) Faulk walked on to the end of the trailer, he saw the female victim lying in the bed in the back bedroom, with a sheet or mattress

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Polk County Sheriff's Deputy Alan Cloud, who arrived after Faulk, testified that the man was in the living room. (Vol. XV, p. 2259)

cover that was partially pulled up on her. (Vol. XIII, pp. 1841-1842) She was nude except for one sock. (Vol. XIV, p. 2018) She was wearing a gold-colored chain with a cross on it, a gold-colored watch, and a gold-colored wedding band. (Vol. XI, p. 1474; Vol. XIV, p. 2026) On the floor was a nightgown and a robe and female underwear with what appeared to be a knot tied in it. (Vol. X, pp. 1375-1376, 1430; Vol. XI, pp. 1449, 1491-1492) The woman's throat had been cut, and she had suffered numerous stab wounds. (Vol. XIII, p. 1841) Underneath her were what appeared to be pieces of the toilet tank lid from the bathroom. (Vol. X, p. 1431; Vol. XI, p. 1512; Vol. XV, pp. 2273-2274) The room was "covered in blood." (Vol. XIII, p. 1842)

Bernice Moody had significant blunt trauma to the head; her nasal bones were fractured. (Vol. XIV, pp. 2021, 2039, 2052) The associate medical examiner, Dr. Alexander Melamud, opined that she had been hit with several blows from a toilet seat or lid, which could have rendered her unconscious. (Vol. XIV, pp. 2021, 2045, 2066) She had incurred a total of 56 cut and stab wounds, 22 of which were in the neck area, including one to the jugular vein, which would have been the worst wound. (Vol. XIV, pp. 2032-2033, 2035, 2041, 2043, 2046-2047, 2049) Some of the wounds, primarily on the right arm, were defensive injuries. (Vol. XIV, pp. 2032, 2043, 2046, 2064) Dr. Melamud thought that she probably had arthritis, as she was taking drugs like Acetiminophen, Ibuprofen, as well as an allergy medication, but most people of her age took such medications. (Vol. XIV, p. 2025) The cause of Bernice Moody's

death was "loss of blood, external and internal." (Vol. IV, p. 2047) No semen or sperm was detected on swabs taken from Bernice Moody's vagina, rectum, and mouth. (Vol. XIII, pp. 1916-1918; Vol. XIV, p. 2053)

Clifford Moody incurred a total of eight stab wounds, which would have caused more internal than external bleeding. (Vol. XIV, pp. 2054-2057) The cause of death was the same as for his wife: bleeding, loss of blood. (Vol. XIV, pp. 2057-2058) Clifford Moody had no drugs in his system. (Vol. XIV, pp. 2060)

Dr. Melamud was unable to say how long it took either Clifford or Bernice Moody to die, but he did believe it took much, much less than one hour. (Vol. XIV, pp. 2061, 2067) He could not give the sequence in which the injuries occurred. (Vol. XIV, pp. 2058, 2065, 2068)

Thomas Woodel worked at Pizza Hut on the evening of December 31, 1996. (Vol. XIV, pp. 2106-2107, 2124) He remarked to a coworker, John Haynes, that "somebody pulled a Charles Manson" the night before, two people had gotten killed at his trailer park. (Vol. XIV, p. 2108) Haynes was at Woodel's residence a few days after the incident in question, playing video games, and "everything seemed normal." (Vol. XIV, pp. 2109-2110) Haynes had been around Thomas Woodel when he was drinking and not drinking, and never saw him exhibit any violence of any kind to anybody. (Vol. XIV, pp. 2115-2116)

On the night of January 2, 1997, law enforcement personnel decided to search the dumpsters in which garbage collected at

Outdoor Resorts had been deposited, and the actual search took place the following morning. (Vol. XI, pp. 1523-1526; Vol. XIII, p.

1990; Vol. XV, pp. 2276-2278) It was conducted by law enforcement personnel and maintenance workers for Outdoor Resorts. (Vol. XIV, pp. 2073-2076, 2084) Among the items found were Pizza Hut boxes, pieces of porcelain toilet tank lid, a wallet containing identification and credit cards belonging to Clifford Moody, keys with a tag that said "Cliff's keys," glasses, bloody socks, paperwork with the address of Lot 301, and paperwork bearing the names of Christopher Woodel [Appellant's son] and Thomas Woodel. (Vol. XI, pp. 1528-1531, 1537-1544, 1545-1546, 1550; Vol. XIV, pp. 2082, 2165; Vol. XV, pp. 2228, 2279-2281, 2283) Several of the items (porcelain pieces, keys, paper with Christopher Woodel's name on it) were found in a cornflakes box. (Vol. XI, pp. 1528-1530, 1537-1540; Vol. XIV, pp. 2164-2165)

That afternoon, Polk County Detectives Mark Taylor, Alan Cloud, and Ann Cash went to Lot 301 to speak with Thomas Woodel. (Vol. XV, pp. 2284-2286) He was a little fidgety, and appeared to be a little nervous, but he was cooperative, and agreed to accompany Cloud and Cash to the substation. (Vol. XV, pp. 2285-2288) Before he left with them, Woodel signed a consent to search residence, as did his sister, Bobbi, and the trailer was subsequently searched. (Vol. XII, pp. 1677-1678; Vol. XIV, pp. 2145-2146, 2172-2178; Vol. XV, p. 2232-2233))

The detectives spoke with Woodel in an interview room at the Bartow Air Base substation. (Vol. XV, pp. 2292-2293) initially not being "real concrete" about where he had been after getting off work at Pizza Hut on the night in question [December 30, 1996], Woodel eventually told the detectives he was at home asleep at the approximate time they believed the murders would have taken place. (Vol. XV, pp. 2295-2296) Detective Cloud later told Woodel that incriminating evidence had been found in the garbage. (Vol. XV, pp. 2298, 2370) Woodel "got quiet for a little while," and continued to deny having knowledge of the homicides briefly after that, but then gave the detectives a statement. (Vol. XV, pp. 2298-2299) He began writing something out, and then talked with them, saying that he was walking home from work when he saw a woman cleaning windows, and walked up to the trailer to find out what time it was. (Vol. XV, pp. 2300-2305) He tried to get the woman's attention, but she did not see him, and so he walked into the trailer and met the woman at the back door and asked her what time it was. (Vol. XV, pp. 2305-2306) She went to the kitchen and returned with a knife, which she pointed at Woodel and said, "you need to leave or I'm going to cut you." (Vol. XV, pp. 2305-2306) He pushed her down, but she came back up at him with the knife, and she ended up getting "poked." (Vol. XV, p. 2306) She continued to fight him, and he hit her over the head with the toilet tank lid, because he had seen this done on television. (Vol. XV, p. 2306) She ended up on the bed, and she got stabbed numerous times because she was struggling; Woodel was just holding the knife, and she

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