IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THOMAS DAVIS WOODEL,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO.SC95110

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

____ /

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0503843 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607-2366 (813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

The appellant's reliance on <u>Commonwealth v. Wilson</u>, 402 A. 2d 1027 (Pa. 1979), is misplaced. In that case, prosecutorial comment as to direct evidence - Wilson's confession to the crime - which was not admitted into evidence required a new trial. In the instant case, the evidence at issue was not as prejudicial, but

more importantly, as noted above, the same evidence as to Woodel's hiding the knife was admitted from another source.

The trial court's finding that no mistrial was warranted after ruling to exclude Gayle Woodel's testimony about the appellant telling her to get rid of the knife is well supported by the record. No new trial is required on the facts of this case.

ISSUE V

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING IN AGGRAVATION THAT THESE MURDERS WERE COMMITTED DURING A BURGLARY AND THAT THE VICTIMS WERE PARTICULARLY VULNERABLE DUE TO ADVANCED AGE.

Woodel next challenges the application of two of the aggravating factors. The jury was instructed on, and the trial court found as statutory aggravating circumstances, that the "the crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was committed while he was engaged in the commission of or flight after committing the crime of burglary" and "the victim[s] of a capital felony [were] particularly vulnerable due to advanced age or disability" (V19/T3141-42). See, § 921.141 (5) (d) & (m), Fla. Stat. (1999). Woodel alleges that the evidence was inadequate to support either factor and, therefore, the trial court erred in giving the instructions and finding the factors.

This Court has made it clear that it will not reweigh the evidence to determine whether the State proved each aggravating circumstance beyond a reasonable doubt, that the task on appeal is to review the record to determine whether the trial court applied the right rule of law for each aggravating circumstance and, if so, whether competent substantial evidence supports its finding. <u>Willacy v. State</u>, 696 So. 2d 693, 695-96 (Fla. 1997). In the instant case, the trial court's findings are supported by competent substantial evidence and the right rule of law was applied. Accordingly, this Court must decline Woodel's invitation to usurp

the trial court's role, and affirm the lower court's findings. Willacy, 696 So. 2d at 695-96 (division of labor between trial and appellate courts is essential to "promote the uniform application of aggravating circumstances in reaching the individualized decision required by law"). See also, <u>Lawrence v. State</u>, 691 So. 2d 1068, 1075 (Fla. 1997) (even if some evidence existed supporting defendant's theory that he shot the store clerk because she angered him, the trial judge was not required to reject aggravator where there was competent, substantial evidence to support it); <u>Orme v.</u> <u>State</u>, 677 So. 2d 258, 262 (Fla. 1996) (duty on appeal is to review the record in the light most favorable to the prevailing theory and to sustain that theory if it is supported by competent, substantial evidence); <u>Occhicone</u>, 570 So. 2d at 905 (court will not substitute its judgment for that of the trial court when there is a legal basis to support finding an aggravating factor).

<u>Burglary</u>

Relying on his argument as presented in Issue II.C. (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 54), Woodel asserts that the evidence was insufficient to support the during the course of a burglary aggravating factor. The State maintains that since the evidence was sufficient to support Woodel's conviction for the burglary of the Moody property (see Issue II), the trial court did not err in finding this aggravating factor.

Advanced Age

Next appellant challenges the advanced age aggravating factor. He asserts that there was no evidence to establish that the Moodys were particularly vulnerable due to their advanced age. He contends that the Moodys were very active for their age; that Bernice Moody was in good health and Clifford Moody was leading a normal life. He also contends there was no evidence to show they were singled out for killing due to their age or any infirmities they suffered and, therefore, the requisite nexus between the victims' ages and the crime was not established. These contentions are erroneous in fact and law.

In its written order, the trial court found:

4) The victims of the killings were particularly vulnerable due to advanced age or disability.

Mrs. Moody was a 74-year old lady who, though in overall good health for a lady her age, had a prior injury to her shoulder that had diminished her use of one arm. Mr. Moody, however, was a 79-year old man who had in the recent past undergone heart by-pass surgery and suffered the residual problems and effects Indeed, while Mrs. Moody fought therefrom. valiantly, her age and disability without a doubt contributed to her defeat and death at the hands of a healthy man approximately one third her age. Mr. Moody's age and physical condition forced him to yield to the overpowering youth and strength of the defendant. The Court finds this aggravating circumstance has been proven beyond а reasonable doubt.

(V2/R272-73)

As Woodel notes, the advanced age aggravating factor is relatively new and, as of this writing, its application to a particular set of facts has not yet been considered by this Court. <u>Compare</u>, Vulnerability of Victim as Aggravating Factor under State Sentencing Guidelines, 73 A.L.R.5th 383, §3a (1999). Regardless of any incremental nuance of decisional authority which may develop as cases involving this aggravator are presented to this Court in upcoming years, the aggravator clearly applies in this case. As the trial court found, Mr. Moody was 79 years old and Mrs. Moody was 74 years old. Although they may have been "active for their age," they were both, nevertheless, due to their age and the circumstances consequent to that age, "particularly vulnerable" to attack by this defendant. Indeed, it is hard to imagine coming to any other conclusion.

Moreover, nothing in §921.141(5)(m) requires the court to find that the victim was targeted because of their age or that some nexus exists between the victim's age and the crime. Appellant's reliance on this Court's jurisprudence concerning the consideration of youthful age as a mitigating factor is misplaced. While this Court has recognized that "age is simply a fact, every murderer has one," <u>Echols v. State</u>, 484 So. 2d 568, 575 (Fla. 1985), this Court has held that when the murder is committed by a minor, the mitigating factor of age must be found and given "full weight." <u>Ellis v. State</u>, 622 So. 2d 991, 1001 n. 7 (Fla. 1993). Where, as

here, the victims by virtue of their advanced age alone become particularly vulnerable, no other showing need be made. <u>Cf. State</u> <u>v. Sims</u>, 67 Wash. App. 50, 834 P.2d 78 (Div. 1 1992) (holding that particular vulnerability due to advanced age alone is, as a matter of law, sufficient to justify the imposition of an exceptional sentence); <u>State v. Goodwin</u>, 93 Wash.App. 1031 (Div. 2 1998), <u>rev.</u> <u>denied</u>, 137 Wash. 2d 1033, 980 P.2d 1281 (1999) (unpublished opinion) (law supported the imposition of the exceptional sentence based on the 74-year-old victim's vulnerability due to advanced age; court also held that the State was not required to prove some further vulnerability or disability beyond the victim's advanced age). Notably, even Woodel concedes that the evidence showed the victims "were very active for their age" (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 43) (emphasis added); "for their age" being the operative words.

Furthermore, although the State established and the court found that both Moodys suffered from some form of disability, the statute is written in the alternative and does not require a showing that the victim was both of advanced age and disabled. Thus, once the State established that Mr. Moody was 79 years old and Mrs. Moody was 74 years old, the requirements of the statute have been met and the aggravator has been proven beyond a reasonable doubt.³ See, <u>State v. Hootman</u>, 709 So. 2d 1357, 1360

³ While §921.141 (5) (m), Fla. Stat., does not specify an exact age as advanced, pursuant to §775.085 (2) Fla. Stat., "advanced

(Fla. 1998) (holding that once it has been established that the victim was of advanced years in age, the aggravator is conclusively shown).

Finally, while the State maintains that the trial court properly found both aggravators in this case, error, if any, is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The trial court found four aggravating factors: 1) prior violent felony; 2) during the course of a burglary; 3) heinous, atrocious, or cruel; and 4) advanced age of the victims. These factors are balanced against the mitigating circumstance of no significant criminal history and seven background factors to which the court assigned minimal weight. Zakrzewski v. State, 717 So. 2d 488 (Fla. 1998) (erroneous finding of aggravating factor that murder was committed in especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel manner with regard to capital defendant's wife was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, given existence of cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravator and contemporaneous murders aggravator). Accordingly, no reversible error has been shown.

age" means that the victim is older than 65 years of age.

ISSUE VI

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ITS CONSIDERATION OF WOODEL'S MITIGATING EVIDENCE.

Woodel's final issue concerns the trial court's findings with regard to the proposed mitigation. Specifically, he claims that the trial court failed to delineate particular weight to each individual factor, and failed to properly assess his alleged intoxication at the time of the murders. A review of the evidence presented and the sentencing order establishes that this claim is without merit.

In sentencing Woodel to die for the murders of Cliff and Bernice Moody, the trial judge complied with all applicable law, including the dictates of this Court's decision in <u>Campbell v.</u> <u>State</u>, 571 So. 2d 415 (Fla. 1990). He expressly evaluated the aggravating factors and mitigating circumstances, and insured adequate appellate review of his findings by reciting the factual bases for the aggravating and mitigating factors. <u>Campbell</u> clearly recognizes that the factual question as to whether a mitigating factor was reasonably established by the evidence is a question for the trial judge. No abuse of discretion has been demonstrated with regard to the trial judge's factual or legal conclusions with regard to the sentencing factors.

This case does not present a situation where a court rejected a mitigating factor which had been reasonably established by the evidence, or where a particular factor was found but dismissed as

having no weight. To the contrary, the court found that the proposed mitigation had been proven, and afforded minimal weight to the specified circumstances. The proposed mitigation was expressly evaluated, with the trial court concluding that Woodel had no significant criminal history and noting the seven background factors suggested by the defense for the catch-all mitigator: physical abuse as a child, neglect as a child, instability of residences as a child, being a child of deaf-mute parents, use of alcohol and drugs, willingness to meet with the daughter of the victims, and willingness to be tested as a potential bone marrow donor for his daughter (V2/273-74). The judge characterized all of the mitigation as insignificant and afforded minimal weight to the factors (V2/273-74). Although Woodel appears to take issue with the judge's failure to assign a specific weight level within the particular discussion of each individual factor, this Court has approved a court's consolidation of mitigating factors for consideration. See, <u>Campbell</u>, 571 So. 2d at 419, n. 3.

As to the trial court's rejection of Woodel's intoxication at the time of the murders, the record supports the conclusion that this factor was not reasonably established by the evidence. Curiously, Woodel's brief does not identify any evidence presented below which casts doubt on the trial court's rejection of this claim. Instead, Woodel focuses on the trial judge's gratuitous comment about the jury having rejected an intoxication defense by

virtue of Woodel's convictions as allegedly demonstrating that the trial court applied an incorrect standard.

The only testimony of Woodel's possible intoxication at the time of the crime other than Woodel's self-serving statements to law enforcement was presented through Jessica Wallace. Ms. Wallace had spent time with Woodel on the evening of December 30, after Woodel had gotten off work at Pizza Hut, around 11:00 or 11:30 p.m. (V18/2819). Wallace stated that she and Woodel had walked to a convenience store to get beer, and met up with three other men at a campground (V18/2820). They all sat and drank beer and the men and Woodel were still drinking when Wallace left them, sometime between 1:00 and 2:00 a.m. (V18/2820-21). In her presence, Woodel I was there" (V18/2820-21).⁴ Wallace noted that Woodel was acting happy and singing "Green Acres" right before she left.

The victims, however, were not killed until several hours after this. Mr. Moody was seen at the laundromat around 5:00 a.m., and was still there at 5:30 or 5:40 a.m., when Elmer Schultz was relieved from his guard house duties (V12/1739, 1745). Sometime after Wallace left, Woodel apparently walked the mile or so from Pizza Hut back to the trailer park (V14/2183). No further accounting of Woodel's activities prior to the murders has ever

⁴Presumably, Wallace's reference to "three or four" would be bottles of beer from the case of Budweiser Woodel described to law enforcement (V15/2317-18).

been offered.

Since evidence of intoxication at the time of the murders is clearly lacking, Woodel suggests that the court below should have found and weighed this mitigator because intoxication was "the only plausible explanation for why these homicides occurred" (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 75). However, desperation to explain an unexplainable murder does not reasonably establish that the explanation exists. Unfortunately, experience has shown that some murders simply have no plausible explanation.

Notably, the trial judge weighed in mitigation Woodel's history of drug and alcohol use other than the proposal that his drinking on the night of the murders clouded his mental state. (See, Sentencing Order, V2/274; after rejecting overindulgence in alcohol on the night in question, court notes "The remaining considerations under the 'catch-all' mitigating circumstances" had been proven, and were entitled to minimal weight.) On these facts, the trial court's rejection of Woodel's intoxication at the time of the offense does not compel relief.

Finally, even if this Court reaches a different conclusion with regard to the trial court's rejection of this proposed mitigation, there is no reason to remand this cause for resentencing since it is clear that any further consideration would not result in the imposition of life sentences. Despite rejecting extreme intoxication as proposed by Woodel, the trial court did

weigh the following factors in mitigation: no substantial criminal history, abuse and neglect as a child, instability of residences as a child and being a child of deaf-mute parents, alcohol and drug use, willingness to meet with the victim's daughter and willingness to be tested as a potential bone marrow donor for his daughter (V2/273-274). Any error relating to the sentencing court's failure to articulate additional details about the insignificant mitigation offered is clearly harmless since the mitigation cannot offset the strong aggravating factors found. Therefore, this Court should affirm the sentence as imposed. Thomas v. State, 693 So. 2d 951, 953 (Fla. 1997); Lawrence v. State, 691 So. 2d 1068, 1076 (Fla.), cert. denied, 118 S.Ct. 205 (1997); Barwick, 660 So. 2d at 696; Armstrong v. State, 642 So. 2d 730 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 115 S.Ct. 1799 (1995); Wickham v. State, 593 So. 2d 191, 194 (Fla. 1991), cert. denied, 505 U.S. 1209 (1992); Cook v. State, 581 So. 2d 141, 144 (Fla.) ("we are convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that the judge still would have imposed the sentence of death even if the sentencing order had contained findings that each of these nonstatutory mitigating circumstances had been proven"), cert. <u>denied</u>, 502 U.S. 890 (1991).

Although Woodel does not dispute the proportionality of his death sentences, this Court must still conduct a proportionality review. Of course, a proportionality determination does not turn on the existence and number of aggravating and mitigating factors,

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